
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
548 Broadway 

Monticello, New York 12701 
(845) 428-7575 - Voice 
(845) 428-7577 - Fax 
www.sullivanida.com 

TTY 711 
 

MEETING NOTICE 
 
 
TO:  Ira Steingart, IDA Chairman 
  Suzanne Loughlin, IDA Vice Chair 
  Sean Rieber, IDA Secretary 
  Howard Siegel, IDA Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer 

Edward Sykes, IDA Assistant Secretary & Chief Executive Officer 
Scott Smith, IDA Assistant Treasurer 

  Paul Guenther, IDA Member 
  Joseph Perrello, IDA Member 

Carol Roig, IDA Member 
  Chairman and Members of the Sullivan County Legislature 
  Josh Potosek, Sullivan County Manager 
  Walter Garigliano, Esq., IDA Counsel 
   
FROM:  Jennifer Flad, Executive Director 
 
DATE:  November 12, 2019 
 
 
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that there will be a Regular Meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial 
Development Agency scheduled as follows: 
 
 DATE:   November 18, 2019 - Monday 
 TIME:   11:00 AM 

LOCATION: Legislative Committee Room 
 Sullivan County Government Center 
 100 North Street 
 Monticello, New York 12701 
 

 
***Please See Page 2 Below For Agenda*** 

http://www.sullivanida.com/


COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
548 Broadway 

Monticello, New York 12701 
(845) 428-7575 – Voice 

(845) 428-7577 - Fax 
www.sullivanida.com 

TTY 711 
 

MEETING AGENDA 
Monday, November 18, 2019, 11:00 AM 

Legislative Committee Room 
Sullivan County Government Center 

100 North Street 
Monticello, New York 12701 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
II. ROLL CALL 
III. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 

October 21, 2019 Regular Meeting 
IV. BILLS AND COMMUNICATIONS 
V. STAFF REPORT 
VI. OLD BUSINESS 

None 

VII. NEW BUSINESS 
 

Resolution: Extending the Sales Tax Abatement Period for the New York Liberty I, LLC Project 
From December 1, 2019 Through and Including May 30, 2020 
Resolution: Clarifying the Sales Tax Abatement for the Veria Lifestyle Inc. Project 
Resolution: Authorizing the Amendment of the Amytra Development LLC, Eldred 
Entertainment LLC, and Eldred Hospitality LLC Project Documents 
Resolution: Appointing Doetsch Family III, LLC as Agent of the Agency; Making Certain Findings 
and Determinations; Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of an Agent and Project 
Agreement; and Authorizing the Execution of a Lease to Agency, Leaseback to Company, 
Payment in Lieu of Tax Agreement, and Related Documents 
Any and All Other Business Before the Board  

VIII. ADJOURN  
 
## 

http://www.sullivanida.com/


 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

548 Broadway 
Monticello, New York 12701 

Tel: (845) 428-7575 
Fax: (845) 428-7577 

TTY 711 
www.sullivanida.com  

 
MEETING MINUTES 

Monday, October 21, 2019 
 

I.     CALL TO ORDER 
Chairman Steingart called to order the regular meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial 
Development Agency at approximately 11:05 AM, in the Legislative Committee Room at the Sullivan 
County Government Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, NY 12701. 
 

II.      ROLL CALL 
Members Present-                       Members Absent- 
Ira Steingart     Carol Roig      
Howard Siegel      Paul Guenther (*By Phone)    
Edward Sykes     Joseph Perrello 
Paul Guenther 
Sean Rieber 
                       
Staff Present-                               Staff Absent- 
Jennifer Flad, Executive Director   
Julio Garaicoechea, Project Manager 
 
Others Present- 
Walter Garigliano, Agency Counsel 
Tara Lewis, Garigliano Law Offices (*By Phone) 

 Patricio Robayo, Sullivan County Democrat 
 Ken Walter 
  
III.  APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 

On a motion made by Ms. Loughlin and seconded by Mr. Smith, the Board voted, and the minutes 
of the September 9, 2019 regular meeting were unanimously approved. 

 
IV.  BILLS AND COMMUNICATIONS 

Mr. Siegel made a motion to approve the revised schedule of payments. Mr. Sykes seconded the 
motion, the Board voted, and the revised schedule of payments was unanimously approved.  
 

V.  STAFF REPORT 
There were no comments on the staff report.  
 
 
 
 

 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

The Board reviewed and discussed a revised 2020 Agency Budget and Financial Plan. Ms. Loughlin asked 
if the Food Hub Director position is now funded by the Sullivan Catskills Regional Food Hub, Inc. Ms. Flad 

http://www.sullivanida.com/


 
stated that the committed funds for the food hub have been expended and confirmed that funding for 
the position is the responsibility of the SCRFH Board. Mr. Rieber made a motion to approve the revised 
2020 Agency Budget and Financial Plan. Mr. Steingart seconded the motion, the Board voted, and the 
revised budget was unanimously approved. 
 
The Board reviewed and discussed a resolution extending the sales tax abatement period for the 
Amytra Development, LLC, Eldred Entertainment, LLC, and Eldred Hospitality, LLC Project from 
November 1, 2019 through and including April 30, 2020. Mr. Smith stated that many people have 
approached him regarding ethical and environmental issues. Attorney Garigliano reminded the 
Board of the purpose of the resolution on extending the sales tax exemption period on an approved 
project within the Tourism Destination program. He added that the project has complied with IDA 
covenants and that these other matters are regulated by State and Local Government bodies (i.e. 
New York State Department of Environmental Conservation). Mr. Rieber made a motion to approve. 
Ms. Loughlin seconded the motion, the Board voted, and the foregoing resolution was put to a vote 
on roll call which resulted as follows: 

 
 
The Board reviewed and discussed a resolution extending the sales tax abatement period for the 
NY Thompson I, LLC. Project from November 1, 2019 through and including April 30, 2020. Mr. 
Siegel made a motion to approve the resolution. Mr. Sykes seconded the motion, the Board voted, 
and the resolution was unanimously approved.  
 
The Board reviewed and discussed a resolution extending the sales tax abatement period for the 
NY Tusten I, LLC. Project from November 1, 2019 through and including April 30, 2020. Mr. Siegel 
made a motion to approve the resolution. Mr. Sykes seconded the motion, the Board voted, and 
the resolution was unanimously approved. 
 
The Board reviewed and discussed a resolution authorizing and approving execution of the gap 
mortgage and the consolidated, amended and restated fee and leasehold mortgage, assignment of 
leases and rents and security agreement, by and among the Agency, SPT IVEY 61 Emerald MOB, 
LLC., Citi Real Estate Funding, Inc. and Deutsche Bank AG, New York Branch. Attorney Garigliano 
stated that the Agency is a party to a new mortgage and there is no request for a mortgage tax 
abatement. Ms. Loughlin made a motion to approve the resolution. Mr. Siegel seconded the motion, 
the Board voted, and the resolution was unanimously approved.   

 
VII. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 There were none. 
 
VIII.  ADJOURNMENT 

On a motion made by Mr. Sykes and seconded by Mr. Siegel, the meeting was adjourned at 11:25 
AM.   
 



 
Respectfully submitted: 
Julio Garaicoechea, Project Manager 
## 

 



Vendor Description Amount
Cardmember Service Time Warner Cable, Adobe Acrobat Pro, GoToMyPC 656.14$               
Catskill Cabin Care Office Cleaning July - October 2019 1,050.00$            
e-Nable Business Solutions Professional Services 10/29/19 190.00$               
Garigliano Law Offices, LLP November 2019 Retainer 250.00$               

re: Villa Roma Resort & Conference Center 9,142.00$            
re: NY Liberty I LLC Sales Tax Exemption Letter 250.00$               
Garigliano Law Offices, LLP Total 9,642.00$            

Harris Beach PLLC re: ABO, OSC, & NYS Senate Requests and Audits 1,981.20$            
re: CSIDA By-Laws 7,114.01$            
re: SC Funding Corp. By-Laws (to be reimbursed by SCFC) 1,556.20$            
re: TSCILDC By-Laws (to be reimbursed by TSCILDC) 1,556.20$            
re: Catskills Food Hub 148.80$               
re: Veria Lifestyle Inc. 1,116.00$            
re: Sullivan Resorts, LLC 1,488.00$            
Harris Beach, PLLC Total 14,960.41$          

New Southern Tier Title Agency LLC December 2019 Office Rent 2,700.00$            
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. Cost-Benefit Analysis re: Doetsch Family III, LLC (pass-through) 1,425.00$            
Sullivan County Democrat Public Hearing Notice re: Doetsch Family III, LLC (pass-through) 74.54$                 
Time Warner Cable Service 11/1/19 - 11/30/19 219.95$               
USDA Rural Development RMAP Loan Repayment - November 2019 2,370.41$            
TOTAL 33,288.45$          

_________________________________ 11/18/2019
Signature Date

Vendor Description Amount
Ninth Planet Beverage Solutions 50% Balance on Canning Line (re: Catskill Brewery RBDG, approved by 

Board resolutions 3/12/18 & 8/12/19)  (pass-through) 82,175.00$          
TOTAL 82,175.00$          

Vendor Description Amount
Payroll Expenses Payroll Check Dates: 10/25/19, 11/8/19 14,792.03$          
TOTAL 14,792.03$          

Vendor Description Amount
none
TOTAL -$                     

PILOT Payments Paid Since Last Regular Meeting (10/21/2019)

Other Expenses and Items Paid Since Last Regular Meeting (10/21/2019)—no approval required

COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
548 Broadway, Monticello, NY 12701

845-428-7575

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS AS OF NOVEMBER 12, 2019

I certify that the payments listed above were audited by the Board of the IDA on November 18, 2019 and allowed in the amounts shown.  You 
are hereby authorized and directed to pay each of the claimants in the amount opposite its name.

Expenses Approved and Paid Since Last Regular Meeting (10/21/2019)



ACTIVITY REPORT – OCTOBER 2019 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY, SULLIVAN COUNTY 

FUNDING CORPORATION, THE SULLIVAN COUNTY INFRASTRUCTURE LOCAL 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

 

November 12, 2019 
 
At its regular monthly meeting on October 21st, the County of Sullivan Industrial Development 
Agency (IDA) Board authorized and approved the extension of the sales tax abatement periods of 
three ongoing projects: NY Thompson I, LLC and NY Tusten I, LLC, each for the development of 
community distributed generation solar electric facility; and Amytra Development LLC, Eldred 
Entertainment, LLC and Eldred Hospitality, LLC, for the development of an event space, restaurant, 
accommodations, and related facilities at the site of the former Eldred Preserve.  The IDA also 
authorized and approved mortgage refinancing for the SPT Ivey 61 Emerald MOB LLC project, 
which relates to the Crystal Run Healthcare facility in Rock Hill.  The IDA will not grant a mortgage 
tax exemption for this transaction.  Finally, at its October 21st meeting the IDA Board approved the 
Fiscal Year 2020 Budget and Financial Plan. 
 
The Sullivan County Funding Corporation (SCFC) Board met twice during October.  On October 7th, 
the Board adopted an inducement resolution related to the issuance of bonds in an amount not to 
exceed $70,000,000 to finance certain projects for the benefit of The Center for Discovery, Inc. 
(TCFD). The bonds will fund the development of the children’s hospital at the former Frontier 
Insurance building in Rock Hill, the expansion of accommodations for adults, and allow TCFD to 
accommodate more children at its facilities.  As of this writing the timeframe for required SCFC 
and County of Sullivan approvals, and completion of the bond transaction, is not known.   
 
The adopted Fiscal Year 2020 Budgets and Financial Plans for the IDA, SCFC, and The Sullivan 
County Infrastructure Local Development Corporation (TSCILDC) were filed in New York State’s 
Public Authorities Reporting Information System (PARIS) on October 29, in accordance with 
Public Authorities Law. 
 
During October the SCFC closed on a new loan to Van Smokey Holding, LLC, for the development of 
a small batch smokehouse in Livingston Manor.   
 
Staff continues to administer two active USDA Rural Business Development Grants, for the 
purchase of equipment to be leased to Catskill Brewery in Livingston Manor and Seminary Hill 
Ciders in Callicoon.  We expect to complete procurement and close out these grants during the first 
half of 2020.  During October staff submitted quarterly reports for these grants as well as annual 
reports for six completed USDA grants.   
 
On November 14th Jennifer Flad will attend the NYS Economic Development Council’s IDA Academy on 
Long Island to learn about new legislation that impacts IDAs, compliance training requirements from 
the Authorities Budget Office, new developments at the Office of the State Comptroller, and related 
topics. 
 
During November IDA staff will begin sending Payment in Lieu of Tax (PILOT) bills to our projects.  The 
first PILOT payments are due December 15th, with due dates continuing into February 2020.  All PILOT 
payments will be distributed to the taxing jurisdictions within thirty days of receipt by the IDA. 

## 



1

Julio Garaicoechea

From: Julio Garaicoechea
Sent: Tuesday, November 12, 2019 10:02 AM
To: Julio Garaicoechea
Subject: NY Liberty I, LLC.

From: Richard W. Chun <rchun@rwc-legal.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 12, 2019 10:00 AM 
To: Julio Garaicoechea <juliog@sullivanida.com> 
Subject: RE: NY Liberty I, LLC. 
 
Hi Julio, 
  
Thank you very much for following-up.   Yes, DRS will be requesting an extension of the sales tax abatement for this 
project.   
  
The work which remains to be completed include: 
  

1. Site clean-up 
2. Grading and demobilization of last equipment (porta Johns, dumpster container) 
3. Energization and hot commissioning 

  
Please feel free to contact me with any questions or if I could provide any further information. 
  
Thanks, 
Richard 
  
  
 



 

 

RESOLUTION 
 

A regular meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) 
was convened in public session on November 18, 2019, at 11:00 a.m., local time, at the Sullivan 
County Government Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, New York 12701. 

 
 The meeting was called to order by Chairman Ira Steingart, and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
  
 Ira Steingart   [     ]  [     ] 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Rieber   [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [     ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Joseph Perrello  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
  
 The following persons were also present: 
 
 Jennifer M. Flad, Executive Director 
 Edward T. Sykes, Chief Executive Officer 
 Julio Garaicoechea, Project Manager 
 Walter F. Garigliano, Agency General Counsel 
        
 The following resolution was duly offered by __________________________________, 
and seconded by ___________________________, to wit: 
 
 Resolution No. ___ - 19 
         

RESOLUTION EXTENDING THE SALES TAX ABATEMENT PERIOD FOR 
THE NY LIBERTY I, LLC (“COMPANY”) PROJECT FROM DECEMBER 1, 
2019 THROUGH AND INCLUDING MAY 31, 2020 

 
 WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New 
York ("State"), as amended, and Chapter 560 of the Laws of 1970 of the State, as amended and 
codified as Section 960 of the General Municipal Law (collectively, the “Act”), the Agency was 
created with the authority and power to own, lease and sell property as authorized by the Act; and 
  



 

 

WHEREAS, on or about November 1, 2017, the Agency closed a lease/leaseback 
transaction with the Company consisting of the construction of an approximately 2MW solar 
photovoltaic electricity generating facility that will be interconnected to the New York State 
Electric and Gas (“NYSEG”) electrical grid (“Project”).  The Project shall be constructed on a 
18.96 ± acre of real estate located along Kelly Bridge Road, Town of Liberty (“Town”), County 
of Sullivan (“County”), State and identified on the Town tax map as Section 40, Block 1, Lot 10.6 
(“Land”).  The Project is new construction and will be comprised of (a) racking to mount the solar 
modules; (b) solar modules; (c) inverters and transformers to sit on a concrete inverter pad and (d) 
assorted electrical components and wiring.  The solar array will be constructed on the Land; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on or about August 23, 2017, the Agency and the Company entered into an 
Agent Agreement pursuant to which the Agency designated the Company its agent; and  
 
 WHEREAS, contemporaneously with the execution of the Agent Agreement, the Agency 
delivered to the Company a Sales Tax Exemption Letter, which letter will expire; and  
   
 WHEREAS, by letter, dated November 12, 2019, the Company requested that the sales tax 
abatement period be extended for another six (6) months to continue the construction, of the 
Project. 
   
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the sales tax abatement period for the 
Project be, and hereby is, extended from December 1, 2019 through and including May 31, 2020. 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call, 
which resulted as follows: 
 
 Ira Steingart   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Rieber   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Joseph Perrello  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
  
 The resolution was thereupon duly adopted. 
60397-019 



 

 

RESOLUTION 
 

A regular meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) 
was convened in public session on November 18, 2019, at 11:00 a.m., local time, at the Sullivan 
County Government Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, New York 12701. 

 
 The meeting was called to order by Chairman Ira Steingart, and, upon roll being called, 
the following members of the Agency were: 
 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
  
 Ira Steingart   [     ]  [     ] 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Rieber   [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [ ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Joseph Perrello  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
  
 The following persons were also present: 
 
 Jennifer M. Flad, Agency Executive Director 
 Edward T. Sykes, Chief Executive Officer 
 Julio Garaicoechea, Agency Project Manager 
 Walter F. Garigliano, Agency General Counsel 
        
 The following resolution was duly offered by ______________________, and seconded 
by __________________________, to wit: 
 
 Resolution No. ___ - 19 

 
         

RESOLUTION CLARIFYING THE SALES TAX ABATEMENT FOR THE 
VERIA LIFESTYLE INC. PROJECT  

 
 WHEREAS, the Agency was created by Chapter 560 of the Laws of 1970 of the State of 
New York, as amended, pursuant to Title I of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the 
State of New York (collectively, the “Act”) as a body corporate and politic and as a public 
benefit corporation of the State of New York; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 36-13 dated October 15, 2013 and Resolution 
No. 37-13 dated November 12, 2013 (collectively, the “Resolutions”), the Agency closed a 



 

 

lease/leaseback transaction with Veria Lifestyle Inc. (the “Company”) consisting of: (i) the 
acquisition by the Agency of a leasehold interest in approximately 22 parcels of land containing 
in the aggregate 1,310 acres located in the Town of Thompson, Sullivan County, New York, and 
being comprised of the commonly known Kutshers Country Club, Camp Anawana, Camp 
Sherwood, Old Liberty Road Sewer Treatment Plant, Fair Hills Bungalow Colony and Kutshers 
County Club Golf Course, all as more particularly identified in the Company’s application 
(collectively, the “Land”) and the existing buildings and structures located thereon (collectively, 
the “Existing Improvements”), (ii) the demolition of certain of the Existing Improvements (the 
“Building Improvements”), (iii) the construction , reconstruction, renovation and/or repair of 
water and sewer infrastructure located on the Land (the “Infrastructure Improvements”), and (iv) 
the acquisition and installation by the Company in and around the Existing Improvements, the 
Building Improvements and Infrastructure Improvements of certain items of equipment and other 
tangible personal property (the “Equipment” and collectively with the Land, the Existing 
Improvements, the Building Improvements and the Infrastructure Improvements, the “Project” or 
“Facility”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Resolutions, the Agency and the Company entered into a 
Master Development and Agent Agreement (“MDAA”) dated on or about November 12, 2013 
pursuant to which the Agency designated the Company its Agent as well as Master Developer 
for the Project; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Resolutions, the Agency issued the Company a Sales Tax 
Exemption Letter dated November 12, 2013; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Sales Tax Exemption Letter dated November 12, 2013 was limited to 
the Facility and the sales tax abatement period was set to expire on December 31, 2014; and  
 
             WHEREAS, pursuant to requests by the Company, the Agency extended the sales tax 
abatement period several times to allow the Company to facilitate its ongoing (i) demolition; and 
(ii) construction, reconstruction, and/or repair of the water and sewer infrastructure as part of the 
Initial Phase, as such term is defined in the MDAA, of the Project; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 24-19 dated June 10, 2019, the Agency extended 
the sales tax abatement period for the Project through and including December 31, 2019; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the Agency now desires to clarify the amount it authorized to be taken by 
the Company in sales tax abatement benefits with respect to the Project.      
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE MEMBERS OF THE AGENCY 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1. That pursuant to Resolution No. 36-13, the Agency authorized the 

Company, as its agent, to make purchases of goods or services relating to 
the Project, that would otherwise be subject to New York State and local 



 

 

sales and use tax in an amount up to $1,100,000, which results in New 
York State and local sales and use tax exemption benefits not to exceed 
$88,000 until the mandatory public hearing was held on November 6, 
2013 for financial assistance in excess of $100,000.   

    
 Section 2. That pursuant to Resolution No. 37-13 dated November 12, 2013 and the 

MDAA and Sales Tax Exemption Letter, each dated on or about 
November 12, 2013, the Agency authorized the Company to act as its 
agent to make purchases of goods or services relating to the Initial Phase 
of the Project consisting of all demolition and infrastructure improvements 
readying the Land for future development. 

 
 Section 3. That for clarification and certainty, the Agency hereby authorizes, 

approves and ratifies all purchases of goods or services made by Company 
to date relating to the Initial Phase of the Project consisting of all 
demolition and infrastructure improvements readying the Land for future 
development. 

 
 Section 4. That the Agency is hereby establishing an aggregate limit of New York 

State and local sales and use tax abatement benefits that may be taken by 
the Company until the expiration of the sales tax abatement period for the 
Initial Phase of the Project to purchases that would otherwise be subject to 
New York State and local sales and use tax in an amount up to 
$5,000,000, which results in New York State and local sales and use tax 
exemption benefits not to exceed $400,000.  

 
 Section 5. The Agency will consider increases to the amount of sales and use tax 

abatement benefits authorized herein and extensions of the sales tax 
abatement period upon written requests made by the Company prior to (i) 
the expiration of the sales tax abatement period; and (ii) purchases 
exceeding the amount authorized herein.       

      
  



 

 

 
Section 6. The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or General Counsel to the Agency 

is hereby authorized and directed (i) to distribute copies of this resolution 
to the Company; and (ii) to do such further things or perform such acts as 
may be necessary or convenient to implement the provisions of this 
resolution. 

 
 Section 7. This resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll 
call, which resulted as follows: 
 
 Ira Steingart   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Rieber   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Joseph Perrello  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 The resolution was thereupon duly adopted. 
  



 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK :   
    :SS 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN : 
 
 I, the undersigned (Assistant) Secretary of the Agency DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT: 
 
1. I have compared the foregoing copy of a resolution of the Agency with the original 

thereof on file in the office of the Agency, and that the same is a true and correct copy of 
such resolution and of the proceedings of the Agency in connection with such matter. 

 
2. Such resolution was passed at a meeting of the Agency duly convened in public session 

on the 18h day of November, 2019 at 11:00 a.m. at the Sullivan County Government 
Center, 100 North Street, Village of Monticello, Sullivan County, New York, at which 
the following members were present: 

 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
  
 Ira Steingart   [     ]  [     ] 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Rieber   [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [     ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Joseph Perrello  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 
3. The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll 

call which resulted as follows: 
 
 Ira Steingart   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Rieber   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Joseph Perrello  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 and therefore, the resolution was declared duly adopted.    
 
 
60397-015v2  



 

 

 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (i) all members of the Agency had due notice of said 
meeting, (ii) pursuant to Sections 103a and 104 of the Public Officers Law (Open Meetings 
Law), said meeting was open to the general public and public notice of the time and place of said 
meeting was duly given in accordance with such Sections 103a and 104, (iii) the meeting in all 
respects was duly held, and (iv) there was a quorum present throughout.   
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal on the 18h day of 
November, 2019.   
 
          
       ____________________________________ 
                   Secretary  
 
 





 
1 

RESOLUTION 
  

A regular meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) 
was convened in public session on November 18, 2019, at 11:00 a.m., local time, at the Sullivan 
County Government Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, New York 12701. 

 
 The meeting was called to order by Chairman Ira Steingart, and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
  
 Ira Steingart   [     ]  [     ] 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Rieber   [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [ ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Joseph Perrello  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
  
 The following persons were also present: 
 
 Jennifer M. Flad, Executive Director 
 Edward T. Sykes, Chief Executive Officer 
 Julio Garaicoechea, Project Manager 
 Walter F. Garigliano, Agency General Counsel 
        
 The following resolution was duly offered by __________________________, and 
seconded by ____________________________________, to wit: 
 
 Resolution No. _____ - 19 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING (I) AN OMNIBUS AMENDMENT TO 
PROJECT DOCUMENTS (AS HEREIN DEFINED) RELATING TO THE 
AMYTRA DEVELOPMENT LLC (“AMYTRA”), ELDRED 
ENTERTAINMENT LLC (“ELDRED ENTERTAINMENT”) AND 
ELDRED HOSPITALITY LLC (“ELDRED HOSPITALITY” TOGETHER 
WITH AMYTRA AND ELDRED ENTERTAINMENT COLLECTIVELY 
REFERRED TO AS, THE “COMPANY”) PROJECT; (II) AN INCREASE 
IN BENEFITS; (III) APPOINTING THE COMPANY AS AGENT OF THE 
AGENCY FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONSTRUCTING AND EQUIPPING 
THE BOAT DOCK (AS HEREIN DEFINED); AND (IV) THE CHAIRMAN 
AND/OR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, EITHER ACTING 
INDIVIDUALLY, TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER THE OMNIBUS 
AMENDMENT TO PROJECT DOCUMENTS AND ANY AND ALL 
DOCUMENTS TO EFFECTUATE THE FOREGOING 



 

 
2 

 
 WHEREAS, the Agency was created by Chapter 560 of the Laws of 1970 of the State of 
New York, as amended, pursuant to Title I of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the 
State of New York (collectively, the "Act") as a body corporate and politic and as a public benefit 
corporation of the State of New York; and  
 

WHEREAS, on or about March 19, 2018, the Company presented an application 
(“Application”) to the Agency, a copy of which is on file at the office of the Agency, requesting 
that the Agency consider undertaking a project consisting of the: (i) reconstruction, renovation, 
rehabilitation, installation and equipping of a former restaurant and motel facility to include (a) 
approximately 3,064 square foot area of event space (“Event Space”); (b) approximately 10,629 
square foot of restaurant space (“Restaurant”); (c) approximately 6,953 square foot of office space 
(“Office”); and (d) approximately 29,536 square foot of accommodation space (“Inn” together 
with Event Space, Restaurant collectively the, “Building”) situate on one (1) parcel of real estate 
consisting of approximately 37.93 acres located at 1040 Route 55, Town of Highland (“Town”), 
Highland, County of Sullivan (“County”), State of New York and identified on the Town tax map 
as Section 4, Block 1, Lot 3.1 (“Land”); (ii) construction and equipping of the Building; (iii) 
construction and installation thereon and therein of certain furniture, fixtures, machinery, 
equipment and tools (“Equipment”); (iv) construction of improvements to the Building, the Land 
and the Equipment (collectively, the Building, the Land and the Equipment are referred to as the 
“Facility” or the “Project”); and (v) lease of the Project from the Agency to the Company; and 

  
 WHEREAS, on April 20, 2018, the Agency by resolution #13-18 approved the Project; 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency and the Company entered into the following documents: 
 

1. Agent and Project Agreement, dated April 20, 2018 (“Agent Agreement”); 
2. Environmental Compliance and Indemnification Agreement (“ECIA”), dated April 

20, 2018; 
3. Bill of Sale to Agency, dated April 20, 2018; 
4. Bill of Sale to Company, dated April 20, 2018; 
5. Lease to Agency and memorandum thereto, dated July 1, 2018; 
6. Leaseback to Company and memorandum thereto, dated July 1, 2018; and 
7. Payment in Lieu of Tax Agreement, dated July 1, 2018; 

 
 (Items 1-7 collectively referred to as the “2018 Transaction Documents”) 
; and 
   
 WHEREAS, by its letter dated October 1, 2019, the Company requested an increase in 
sales tax exemption authorized by the Agency due to an increase in anticipated Project costs; and  
 
 WHEREAS, by its letter dated November 6, 2019, the Company also requested the Agency 
to: (i) provide financial assistance for the (a) construction and equipping of a dock (“Boat Dock”); 
and (b) acquisition of boats; and (ii) include a portion of Section 4, Block 1, Lot 2 (“Additional 
Land”) in the Project description; and 



 
3 

 
 WHEREAS, the Agency contemplates that it will (i) authorize the construction and 
equipping of the Boat Dock, acquisition of boats and the Additional Land; (ii) enter into the 
Omnibus Amendment to Project Documents to amend the project description in the 2018 
Transaction Documents; (iii) increase the financial assistance to the Company in the form of sales 
and use tax exemption (“Financial Assistance”); (iv) designate the Company as its agent of the 
Agency for the purpose of constructing and equipping the Boat Dock; (v) provide financial 
assistance to the Company in the form of a sales tax exemption of purchases related to the 
construction and equipping of the Boat Dock; and (vi) authorize its Chairman and/or Chief 
Executive Officer to execute and deliver the Omnibus Amendment to Project Documents and any 
and all documents necessary to effectuate the foregoing. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE AGENCY 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The Chairman or Chief Executive Officer of the Agency, each acting individually 

are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute and deliver the Omnibus 
Amendment to Project Documents together with any other documents necessary to 
authorize the (i) construction and equipping of the boat dock (“Boat Dock”); (ii) 
inclusion of a portion of Section 4, Block 1, Lot 2; and (iii) increase in financial 
assistance to a sales tax exemption not to exceed One Million Four Hundred Forty 
Thousand and 00/l00 ($1,440,000.00) Dollars. 

 
Section 2. Subject to the Company executing an Omnibus Amendment to Project Documents 

in form and substance approved by the Agency General Counsel, the Agency 
hereby authorizes the Company to proceed with the construction and equipping of 
the Boat Dock and hereby appoints the Company as the true and lawful agent of 
the Agency to construct and equip the Boat Dock on behalf of the Agency; with the 
authority to delegate its status as agent of the Agency to the Company’s agents, 
subagents, contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, vendors and other such parties as 
the Company may choose.  The appointment described above includes the 
following activities as they relate to the construction and equipping of the Boat 
Dock, whether or not the materials, services or supplies described below are 
incorporated into or become an integral part of the Boat Dock; (i) all purchases, 
leases, rentals and other uses of tools, machinery and equipment in connection with 
the construction and equipping of the Boat Dock; (ii) all purchases, rentals, uses or 
consumption of supplies, materials and services of every kind and description in 
connection with the construction and equipping of the Boat Dock; and (iii) all 
purchases, leases, rentals and uses of equipment, machinery, and other tangible 
personal property (including installation costs with respect thereto), installed or 
placed in, upon or under the Boat Dock, including all repairs and replacements of 
such property.  This agency appointment includes the power to make, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver any contracts, orders, receipts, writings and instructions, 
as the stated agents for the Agency, and in general to do all things which may be 
requisite or proper for completing the Boat Dock, all with the same powers and 
with the same validity as the Agency could do if acting on its own behalf.  The 
aforesaid appointment of the Company as agent of the Agency to construct and 



 

 
4 

equip the Boat Dock shall expire on January 31, 2020 if the Omnibus Amendment 
has not been executed and delivered. 

 
Section 3. The Agency hereby approves the Company’s request to increase the financial 

assistance and amend the Agent Agreement. 
 

Section 4. Section 4(e) of the Agent Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and the 
following inserted in its place and stead: 

 
 “(e) The Company further (i) covenants and agrees that the 

purchase of goods and services relating to the Project and subject to 
New York State and local sales and use taxes are estimated in the 
amount up to $18,000,000, and, therefore, the value of the sales and 
use tax exemption benefits authorized and approved by the Agency 
cannot exceed $1,440,000, (ii) confirms that the mortgage recording 
tax exemption amount shall not exceed $120,000, and (iii) confirms 
that the real property tax abatement benefits to be provided to the 
Company shall conform to those contained within the PILOT 
attached hereto as Exhibit 4.”   

 
Section 5. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized and 

directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things 
required and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and 
documents, to pay all such fees, charges and expenses and to do all such further 
acts and things as may be necessary or, in the opinion of the officer, employee or 
agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the purposes of the foregoing resolutions 
and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the terms, covenants and 
provisions of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency. 

 
Section 6. These Resolutions shall take effect immediately 
 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call, 
which resulted as follows: 
 
 Ira Steingart   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Rieber   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Joseph Perrello  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 and therefore, the resolution was declared duly adopted.   



 
5 

 
STATE OF NEW YORK : 
              :SS 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN    : 
 
 I, the undersigned (Assistant) Secretary of the Agency DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT: 
 
1. I have compared the foregoing copy of a resolution of the Agency with the original thereof 

on file in the office of the Agency, and that the same is a true and correct copy of such 
resolution and of the proceedings of the Agency in connection with such matter. 

 
2. Such resolution was passed at a meeting of the Agency duly convened in public session on 

November 18, 2019 at 11:00 a.m. at the Sullivan County Government Center, 100 North 
Street, Monticello, New York, at which the following members were present: 

 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
  
 Ira Steingart   [     ]  [     ] 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Rieber   [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [ ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Joseph Perrello  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 
3. The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call 

which resulted as follows: 
 
 Ira Steingart   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Rieber   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Joseph Perrello  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 and therefore, the resolution was declared duly adopted. 
  
 
60397-005v3 

 
  



 

 
6 

 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (i) all members of the Agency had due notice of said meeting, 
(ii) pursuant to Sections 103a and 104 of the Public Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said 
meeting was open to the general public and public notice of the time and place of said meeting 
was duly given in accordance with such Sections 103a and 104, (iii) the meeting in all respects 
was duly held, and (iv) there was a quorum present throughout.   
           
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal on the 18th day of 
November, 2019. 
     
                 ______________________________ 

Secretary  
 
 
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                      































Doetsch Family III LLC 
Application to County of Sullivan 

Industrial Development Agency for 
Financial Assistance for 

Seminary Suites 
Lodging Project 

 

Benefit/Cost Analysis 
Prepared by: 

Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 
Planning & Research Consultants 

100 Fourth Street Honesdale, PA 18431 
(570) 251-9550  FAX 251-9551 

www.shepstone.net 
mail@shepstone.net 

October, 2019

http://www.shepstone.net
mailto:mail@shepstone.net?subject=
http://www.shepstone.net
mailto:mail@shepstone.net?subject=


Doetsch Family III LLC 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

Background: 

Doetsch Family III LLC has applied for financial assistance for the development of two 

related properties in the Town of Delaware (Tax Map Parcels 14-5-29 and 15-2-1). The 

project involves the conversion of a two structures on the latter parcel into an eight-unit 

lodging enterprise called Seminary Suites with parking on the opposite side of Route 97. 

The two structures include the original Callicoon Hospital (pictured below and on cover) 

plus an adjoining former office building of the two doctors who served the facility. 

 

It is estimated $975,000 will be invested, including approximately $600,000 in improving 

the property, of which an estimated $360,000 will represent sales taxable materials 

costs associated with the renovation project. There will also be an estimated $100,000 

invested in furniture, fixtures and equipment that will be sales taxable. The real property 

improvements will, at an 95.75% equalization rate and with other adjustments, yield an 

estimated $450,000 of assessed value). Doetsch Family III LLC has applied to the 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  1 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



Doetsch Family III LLC 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency (IDA) for real property, mortgage and 

sales tax abatements to assist with bringing this project to completion. 

 

Former doctors’ offices 

New York State law governing IDAs requires "an analysis of the costs and benefits of 

the proposed project."  Shepstone Management Company, Inc. has been requested by 

the IDA to provide such an analysis on an independent basis.  This study is designed to 

compare the economic benefits of the project, including both direct and indirect 

revenues generated for local and state government, against the costs to these 

governments for additional services required. Both direct and indirect costs are 

considered on this side of the equation as well.    

The following is a summary of the findings from this analysis, including supporting 

materials forming the basis for the conclusion reached. 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  2 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



Doetsch Family III LLC 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

Methods and Assumptions: 

The following methods and assumptions were employed for this analysis of this project: 

1) The construction/rehabilitation aspect of the project involves an estimated 

$460,000 in sales taxable material and equipment purchases, the former 

amounting to $360,000 or 60% of construction and the latter being an estimated 

$100,000 for furniture, fixtures and equipment (FF&E) at a projected cost of 

$12,500 per room based on adjusted HVS Survey of Hotel Development Costs 

figures. 

2) It is assumed, for purposes of this analysis, 

that all construction activities will occur in 

2019.  It is further assumed that the IDA will 

approve a PILOT Agreement under the IDA’s 

Uniform Tax Exemption Policy Tourism 

Industry Program, the PILOT to apply to the 

estimated costs of developing the real 

property times the 95.75% equalization rate 

for the Town of Delaware. The PILOT 

schedule is detailed in the table to the right. 

3) It is assumed there will be a $450,000 

mortgage to which mortgage tax abatement 

will apply. 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  3 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 

http://www.sullivanida.com/uniform-tax-exempt-policy/
http://www.sullivanida.com/uniform-tax-exempt-policy/


Doetsch Family III LLC 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

4) It is anticipated the Doetsch Family III LLC project will create 1.5 full-time 

equivalent jobs with salaries averaging $40,000 per year. 

5) The additional annual costs to local government for providing highway 

maintenance and other non-educational services in the Town of Delaware are 

estimated at $1,694 for each new resident attracted ($4,151 per household).  

This is based on an estimated county and town tax levy of $4,300,000, divided by 

a Town of Delaware population of roughly 2,550 persons. 

 It is assumed 25% of employees or up to one person will be new to Sullivan 

County.  Further applying an employment multiplier of 1.50 (the New York State 

Department of Labor estimated multiplier for leisure and hospitality businesses in 

New York), the project will produce less than one new household (1.5 jobs x 25% 

new households x 1.50), with a cost of approximately $4,151 annually in non-

educational local government services each. 

 It is assumed, based on the Sullivan County Cost of Community Services Study, 

that 78.1% or $3,243 per household would be covered from taxes paid by the 

new residents, leaving $908 per household as the net cost for town and county 

services. This is the ratio of costs of services to tax revenues for residential 

development in the Town of Delaware.  

 This is to say every new household, viewed independently of the businesses 

employing its members, theoretically generates a net tax loss for the community.  

This strict interpretation provides for a conservative analysis of benefits versus 

costs, but it is also important to remember the commercial ratables would not 

exist without the employees required to run the business or residential customers 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  4 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



Doetsch Family III LLC 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

for its products.  The value of costs of services data is limited to analyzing the 

likely tax impacts of projects, as it is being used in this instance. 

  

  

6) School costs are based on the 0.48 children per household average for Sullivan 

County times a total cost (net of state aid) of $18,500 per student, which is the 

estimated average figure for the Sullivan West School District where the project 

is located. No more than one additional student is projected. 

7) Sales taxes attributable to the increased buying power generated by the new 

payroll the facility will produce are included among benefits the project will 

create, along with sales taxes and room taxes based on 50% occupancy and a 

$300 average room rate per suite (up to four bedrooms in size). 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  5 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



Doetsch Family III LLC 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

8) Cash flow streams from benefits and costs are net present valued using a 

discount rate of 2.49% (current interest rate on the public debt). Net present 

value figures include actual costs of abatements and other costs for 2019 plus 

discounted values for 2020-2039. 

Conclusion: 

This project will generate costs of $126,135 in mortgage, real property and sales tax 

abatements over the period of the standard PILOT agreement plus five years. Net 

present valued this equates to a total cost of $114,752. There are an additional 

estimated $19,473 of school costs and $9,101 of highway and related costs over this 

same period (net present valued), bringing total costs to $143,326. 

The project benefits consist of the new real property taxes that will be generated 

($135,190), the payroll gains ($412,723), the sales taxes from those payroll gains  

($33,018), the sales taxes from operations ($633,248) and hotel occupancy taxes  

($395,780) which, at net present value, total $1,609,959 combined over the analysis 

period. 

This yields a positive benefit/cost ratio of 11.23. 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  6 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 

http://www.treasurydirect.gov/govt/rates/pd/avg/avg.htm


Doetsch Family III LLC 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  7 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



Doetsch Family III LLC 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  8 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



Doetsch Family III LLC 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  9 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



60397-016v4 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a public hearing pursuant to Article 18-A of the New York 
State General Municipal Law will be held by the County of Sullivan Industrial Development 
Agency (“Agency”) on November 18, 2019 at 9:00 am, local time, at the Town of Delaware 
Municipal Building, 104 Main Street, Hortonville, NY, 12745, in connection with the following 
matter: 
 
Doetsch Family III LLC (the “Company”) has submitted an application (“Application”), a copy 
of which is on file with the Agency, requesting the Agency’s assistance with respect to a certain 
project consisting of the: (i) construction, reconstruction, renovation, rehabilitation,  installation 
and equipping of two (2) buildings aggregating approximately 7,870+/- square feet intended to 
be used as a short-term lodging facility comprising a total of eight (8) units with bedrooms, 
bathrooms, living rooms, and kitchens (collectively, the “Buildings”) together with related 
parking accommodations (“Parking Accommodations”) situate on two (2) parcels of real estate 
consisting of approximately 0.64+/- acres located along State Route 97 at 8 Hospital Road and 
Mitchell Avenue, Town of Delaware (“Town”), County of Sullivan, State of New York and 
identified on the Town’s tax map as Section 14, Block 5, Lot 29 and Section 15, Block 2, Lot 1 
(“Land”); (ii) acquisition, construction and equipping of the Buildings and Parking 
Accommodations; (iii) acquisition, construction and installation thereon and therein of certain 
furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment and tools (“Equipment”); (iv) construction of 
improvements to the Buildings, the Parking Accommodations, the Land and the Equipment 
(collectively, the Buildings, the Parking Accommodations, the Land and the Equipment are 
referred to as the “Facility” or the “Project”); and (v) lease of the Facility from the Agency to the 
Company. 
 
The Agency will acquire title to, or a leasehold interest in, the Facility and lease the Facility back 
to the Company.  At the end of the lease term, the Company will purchase the Facility from the 
Agency, or if the Agency holds a leasehold interest, the leasehold interest will be terminated.  
The Agency contemplates that it will provide financial assistance (“Financial Assistance”) to the 
Company in the form of sales and use tax exemption and a mortgage recording tax exemption, 
consistent with the policies of the Agency, and a partial real property tax abatement.  
 
A representative of the Agency will be at the above-stated time and place to present a copy of the 
Company’s project application and hear and accept written and oral comments from all persons 
with views in favor of, opposed to or otherwise relevant to the proposed Financial Assistance. 
 
 
Dated: November 6, 2019 By: COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL      

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 
 



RESOLUTION 
 

A regular meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) 
was convened in public session on November 18, 2019, at 11:00 a.m., local time, at the Sullivan 
County Government Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, New York 12701. 

 
 The meeting was called to order by Chairman Ira Steingart, and, upon roll being called, the 
following members of the Agency were: 
 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
  
 Ira Steingart   [     ]  [     ] 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Rieber   [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [ ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Joseph Perrello  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
  
 The following persons were also present: 
 
 Jennifer M. Flad, Executive Director 
 Edward T. Sykes, Chief Executive Officer 
 Julio Garaicoechea, Project Manager 
 Walter F. Garigliano, Agency General Counsel 
        
 The following resolution was duly offered by _______________________________, and 
seconded by ______________________________, to wit: 
 
 Resolution No. _____ - 19 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY APPOINTING DOETSCH FAMILY III LLC 
(“COMPANY”) AS ITS AGENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONSTRUCTING, 
RECONSTRUCTING, RENOVATING, REHABILITATING, INSTALLING 
AND EQUIPPING THE PROJECT (HEREINAFTER DEFINED); MAKING 
CERTAIN FINDINGS AND DETERMINATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE 
PROJECT; AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF 
AN AGENT AND PROJECT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE AGENCY AND 
THE COMPANY; AUTHORIZING THE AGENCY TO EXECUTE THE 
LEASE TO AGENCY (“LEASE”), LEASEBACK TO COMPANY 
(“LEASEBACK”), PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT (“PILOT 
AGREEMENT”) AND RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE 



CONSTRUCTION, RECONSTRUCTION, RENOVATION, 
REHABILITATION, INSTALLATION AND EQUIPPING OF THE PROJECT 
 

 WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New 
York ("State"), as amended, and Chapter 560 of the Laws of 1970 of the State, as amended and 
codified as Section 960 of the General Municipal Law (collectively, the “Act”), the Agency was 
created with the authority and power to own, lease and sell property as authorized by the Act; and 
 

WHEREAS, on or about October 23, 2019, the Company presented an application 
(“Application”) to the Agency, a copy of which is on file at the office of the Agency, requesting 
that the Agency consider undertaking a project consisting of the: (i) construction, reconstruction, 
renovation, rehabilitation, installation and equipping of two (2) buildings aggregating 
approximately 7,870+/- square feet intended to be used as a short-term lodging facility comprising 
a total of eight (8) units with bedrooms, bathrooms, living rooms, and kitchens (collectively, the 
“Buildings”) together with related parking accommodations (“Parking Accommodations”) situate 
on two (2) parcels of real estate consisting of approximately 0.64+/- acres located along State 
Route 97 at 8 Hospital Road and Mitchell Avenue, Town of Delaware (“Town”), County of 
Sullivan, State of New York and identified on the Town’s tax map as Section 14, Block 5, Lot 29 
and Section 15, Block 2, Lot 1 (“Land”); (ii) acquisition, construction and equipping of the 
Buildings and Parking Accommodations; (iii) acquisition, construction and installation thereon 
and therein of certain furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment and tools (“Equipment”); (iv) 
construction of improvements to the Buildings, the Parking Accommodations, the Land and the 
Equipment (collectively, the Buildings, the Parking Accommodations, the Land and the 
Equipment are referred to as the “Facility” or the “Project”); and (v) lease of the Facility from the 
Agency to the Company; and  
   
 WHEREAS, it is contemplated that the Agency will (i) designate the Company as its agent 
for the purpose of constructing, reconstructing, renovating, rehabilitating, installing and equipping 
the Project; (ii) negotiate and enter into an Agent and Project Agreement, the Lease, the Leaseback 
and the PILOT Agreement with the Company (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”); (iii) 
hold title to or a leasehold interest in the Land, the improvements and personal property thereon 
which constitute the Project; and (iv) provide financial assistance to the Company in the form of 
(a) sales tax exemption for purchases related to the construction, reconstruction, renovation, 
rehabilitation, installation and equipping of the Project; (b) a real property tax abatement on 
increased value resulting from improvements to the Land through the PILOT Agreement; and (c) 
a mortgage tax exemption for financing related to the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the total financial assistance being contemplated by the Agency is greater 
than $100,000; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law and the 
regulations adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental Conservation of the 
State of New York (“SEQR”), the Agency constitutes a “State Agency”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to aid the Agency in determining whether the Project may have significant 



adverse effects on the environment, the Company has presented a Short Environmental 
Assessment Form (“EAF”) to the Agency with respect to the Project for its review; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has determined that the Project is an Unlisted Action under 
SEQR; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has given due consideration to the Application of the Company 
and to representations by the Company that the proposed financial assistance is an inducement to 
the Company to undertake the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has considered the following matters as more fully set forth in its 
Uniform Tax Exemption Policies: 

 
A.  Permanent private sector job creation and retention; 
B. Estimated value of the tax exemption; 
C. Whether the affected taxing jurisdictions shall be reimbursed by the Company if 

the Facility does not fulfill the purposes for which the exemption was granted; 
D. Impact of Project on existing and proposed business or economic development 

projects; 
E. The amount of private sector investment generated or likely to be generated by the 

Project; 
F. Demonstrated public support for the Project; 
G. Likelihood of accomplishing the Project in a timely fashion; 
H. Environmental Impact; 
I. Extent to which the Project will require additional services including, but not 

limited to educational, police, transportation, EMS, and fire; 
J. Extent to which the Project will provide additional revenues; and 
K. Extent to which the Project will serve the public purposes of the Act by preserving 

permanent, private sector jobs or increasing the overall number of permanent, 
private sector jobs in the State;  

and 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency desires to encourage the Company to advance the job 
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of Sullivan County, 
New York by providing the contemplated financial assistance and undertaking the Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Chief Executive Officer has negotiated the Transaction Documents with 
the Company; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Transaction Documents have been prepared by Agency Counsel. 

  



 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE AGENCY AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The Company has presented to the Agency, among other things: 
 

(A) An Application in form acceptable to the Agency;  
(B) A Cost/Benefit Analysis relating to the proposed financial assistance; and 
(C) A Short EAF. 

 
Section 2. Based upon (i) the representations made by the Company to the Agency, and (ii) a 

review of a short EAF presented to the Agency, the EAF reviewed and acted upon 
by the Town of Delaware Planning Board, and (iii) related documents, the Agency 
hereby determines that: 

 
The Project is an Unlisted Action under the SEQR.  Based upon the review 

by the Agency of the EAF the Town of Delaware SEQR proceedings and the 
representations made by the Company to the Agency in connection with the Project, 
the Agency hereby finds that (i) the Project will result in no major impacts and 
therefore, is one which may not cause significant damage to the environment; (ii) 
the Project will not have a “significant effect on the environment” as such quoted 
term is defined in Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law and 
Regulations adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental 
Conservation of the State; and (iii) no “environmental impact statement” as such 
quoted term is defined in SEQR need be prepared for this action.  This 
determination constitutes a negative declaration for purposes of SEQR.  The 
Agency’s findings are incorporated in the EAF. 

 
A copy of this resolution shall together with the attachments thereto be 

placed on file in the office of the Agency where the same shall be available for 
public inspection during business hours, and notices of this negative declaration 
shall be filed in such offices, posted in such places, and published in such 
publications as shall be necessary to conform with the requirements of SEQR. 

 
Section 3. The Agency has determined that the proposed financial assistance exceeds the sum 

of $100,000.00 and therefore a public hearing on due notice was held on November 
18, 2019 at 9:00 am, local time, at the Town of Delaware Municipal Building, 104 
Main Street, Hortonville, NY, 12745, County, State at which hearing comments 
relating to the proposed financial assistance were solicited.  Said public hearing was 
open to the general public and public notice of the time and place of said public 
hearing was duly given in accordance with the applicable provisions of the General 
Municipal Law of the State. 

 
Section 4. Based upon representations made by the Company to the Agency, the Agency 

hereby makes, finds and determines as follows: 
 



(A) By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary 
and convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of 
the Act and to exercise all powers granted to it under the Act;  

(B) It is desirable and in the public interest for the Agency to (i) take a leasehold 
interest in the Land and to take title to improvements and personal property 
constituting the Project; and (ii) appoint the Company as its agent for 
purposes of constructing, reconstructing, renovating, installing and 
equipping the Project; and 

(C) The Agency has the authority to take the actions contemplated therein under 
the Act; and 

(D) The action to be taken by the Agency will induce the Company to develop 
the Project, thereby increasing employment opportunities in Sullivan 
County and otherwise furthering the purposes of the Agency as set forth in 
the Act. 

    
Section 5. Subject to the Company executing an Agent and Project Agreement in form and 

substance approved by the Chief Executive Officer, the Agency hereby authorizes 
the Company to proceed with the construction, reconstruction, renovation, 
rehabilitation, installation and equipping of the Project and hereby appoints the 
Company as the true and lawful agent of the Agency to construct, reconstruct, 
renovate, rehabilitate, install and equip the Project on behalf of the Agency; with 
the authority to delegate its status as agent of the Agency to the Company’s agents, 
subagents, contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, vendors and other such parties as 
the Company may choose.  The appointment described above includes the 
following activities as they relate to the construction, reconstruction, renovation, 
rehabilitation, installation and equipping of the Project, whether or not the 
materials, services or supplies described below are incorporated into or become an 
integral part of the Project; (i) all purchases, leases, rentals and other uses of tools, 
machinery and equipment in connection with the construction, reconstruction, 
renovation, rehabilitation, installation and equipping of the Project; (ii) all 
purchases, rentals, uses or consumption of supplies, materials and services of every 
kind and description in connection with the construction, reconstruction, 
renovation, rehabilitation, installation and equipping of the Project; and (iii) all 
purchases, leases, rentals and uses of equipment, machinery, and other tangible 
personal property (including installation costs with respect thereto), installed or 
placed in, upon or under the Project, including all repairs and replacements of such 
property.  This agency appointment includes the power to make, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver any contracts, orders, receipts, writings and instructions, 
as the stated agents for the Agency, and in general to do all things which may be 
requisite or proper for completing the Project, all with the same powers and with 
the same validity as the Agency could do if acting on its own behalf.  The aforesaid 
appointment of the Company as agent of the Agency to construct, reconstruct, 
renovate, rehabilitate, install and equip the Project shall expire on May 31, 2020 if 
the Transaction Documents have not been executed and delivered. 

 



Section 6. Based upon the representation and warranties made by the Company in its 
application for financial assistance, the Agency hereby authorizes and approves the 
Company, as its agent, to make purchases of goods and services relating to the 
Project and that would otherwise be subject to New York State and local sales and 
use tax in an amount up to $460,000, which result in New York State and local 
sales and use tax exemption benefits ("sales and use tax exemption benefits") not 
to exceed $36,800.  The Agency agrees to consider any requests by the Company 
for increase to the amount of sales and use tax exemption benefits authorized by 
the Agency upon being provided with appropriate documentation detailing the 
additional purchases of property or services. 

 
Section 7. Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the New York General Municipal Law, the Agency 

may recover or recapture from the Company, its agents, consultants, 
subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of 
the Project, any sales and use tax exemption benefits taken or purported to be taken 
by the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 
authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, if it is determined that: 
(i) the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 
authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, is not entitled to the 
sales and use tax exemption benefits; (ii) the sales and use tax exemption benefits 
are in excess of the amounts authorized to be taken by the Company, its agents, 
consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the 
benefit of the Project; (iii) the sales and use tax exemption benefits are for property 
or services not authorized by the Agency as part of the Project; or (iv) the sales and 
use tax exemption benefits are taken in cases where the Company, its agents, 
consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the 
benefit of the Project, fails to comply with a material term or condition to use 
property or services in the manner approved by the Agency in connection with the 
Project.  As a condition precedent of receiving sales and use tax exemption benefits, 
the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized 
to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, must (i) cooperate with the Agency 
in its efforts to recover or recapture any sales and use tax exemption benefits, and 
(ii) promptly pay over any such amounts to the Agency that the Agency demands. 

  
Section 8. The Transaction Documents which were negotiated by the Chief Executive Officer, 

are hereby approved as to form and substance on condition that: (i) the payments 
under the Leaseback include payments of all costs incurred by the Agency arising 
out of or related to the Project and indemnification of the Agency by the Company 
for actions taken by the Company and/or claims arising out of or related to the 
Project; and (ii) the terms of the PILOT Agreement are consistent with the 
Agency’s Uniform Tax Exemption Policy or the procedures for deviation have been 
complied with. 

 
Section 9. The Chairman, Executive Director or Chief Executive Officer of the Agency is 

hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute and deliver the Transaction 



Documents in the form presented at this meeting all with such changes, variations, 
omissions and insertions as the Chairman, Executive Director or Chief Executive 
Officer of the Agency shall approve, the execution thereof by the Chairman, 
Executive Director or Chief Executive Officer of the Agency to constitute 
conclusive evidence of such approval. 

 
Section 10. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized and 

directed  in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required 
and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay 
all such fees, charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may 
be necessary or, in the opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable 
and proper to effect the purposes of this resolution and to cause compliance by the 
Agency with all of the terms, covenants and provisions of the documents executed 
for and on behalf of the Agency. 

 
Section 11. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of the Agency concerning 

and relating to the adoption of this resolution were adopted in an open meeting of 
the Agency; and that all deliberations of the Agency and of any of its committees 
that resulted in such formal action were in meetings open to the public, in 
compliance with all legal requirements. 

 
Section 12. The Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer or Counsel to the Agency is 

hereby authorized and directed (i) to distribute copies of this resolution to the 
Company; and (ii) to do such further things or perform such acts as may be 
necessary or convenient to implement the provisions of this resolution. 

 
Section 13. This resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 

THE MEMBERS VOTED ON THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Ira Steingart   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Rieber   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Joseph Perrello  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 and therefore, the resolution was declared duly adopted.  



STATE OF NEW YORK :   
    :SS 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN : 
 
 I, the undersigned (Assistant) Secretary of the Agency DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT: 
 
1. I have compared the foregoing copy of a resolution of the Agency with the original thereof 

on file in the office of the Agency, and that the same is a true and correct copy of such 
resolution and of the proceedings of the Agency in connection with such matter. 

 
2. Such resolution was passed at a meeting of the Agency duly convened in public session on 

the 18th day of November, 2019 at 11:00 a.m. at the Sullivan County Government Center, 
100 North Street, Village of Monticello, Sullivan County, New York, at which the 
following members were present: 

 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
  
 Ira Steingart   [     ]  [     ] 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Rieber   [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [ ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Joseph Perrello  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 
3. The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call 

which resulted as follows: 
 
 Ira Steingart   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Rieber   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Joseph Perrello  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 and therefore, the resolution was declared duly adopted. 
60397-021v3  



 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (i) all members of the Agency had due notice of said meeting, 
(ii) pursuant to Sections 103a and 104 of the Public Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said 
meeting was open to the general public and public notice of the time and place of said meeting 
was duly given in accordance with such Sections 103a and 104, (iii) the meeting in all respects 
was duly held, and (iv) there was a quorum present throughout.   
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal on the 18th day of 
November, 2019.   
 
          
       ____________________________________ 
                   Secretary  
 
 


	1_IDA Notice and Agenda 11182019
	DATE:   November 18, 2019 - Monday
	COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
	MEETING AGENDA
	Monday, November 18, 2019, 11:00 AM


	I. CALL TO ORDER
	II. ROLL CALL
	III. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES
	IV. BILLS AND COMMUNICATIONS
	V. STAFF REPORT
	VI. OLD BUSINESS None
	VII. NEW BUSINESS
	VIII. ADJOURN


	2_10-21-19 Meeting Minutes Draft
	3_11-18-19 Schedule of Payments
	11-18-19

	4_10-2019 IDA Report for Board
	ACTIVITY REPORT – OCTOBER 2019

	5_NY Liberty I, LLC Sales Tax Abatement Request 11122019
	6_60397-019 NY Liberty I
	7_60397-015v2 Veria
	8_2019_11_06_11_29_25_Amytra Request
	9_60397-005v3 Amytra
	10_Doetsch III App & Narrative
	Doetsch III Seminary Suites App Final
	Doetsch III Seminary Suites Project Plan Revised

	11_Doetsch III BC Report
	12_60397-016v4 Doetsch III PH Notice
	60397-021v3 Doetsch Family III



